
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE

AT KNOXVILLE

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA )
)

v. )  3:10-CR-124
)  3:11-CR-11

 )  JORDAN/SHIRLEY
LESLIE JANOUS      )
 

UNITED STATES’ SENTENCING MEMORANDUM
AND MOTION FOR UPWARD DEPARTURE

The United States of America, by and through undersigned counsel, submits herewith

the Government’s sentencing recommendation and motion for upward departure with

respect to the above-captioned proceeding.

1. Government’s sentencing position

In accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 3553, the United States Sentencing Guidelines, and

the evidence in this case, the defendant Leslie Janous (“Janous”) should receive a sentence

above the applicable Guideline range of 108 to 135 months.1  In addition, the defendant

should be ordered, in accordance with her plea agreement, to pay restitution to the victims of

her crimes and forfeit all property, real and personal, that constitutes or is traceable to

proceeds of her violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343 and 1957.

1The base offense level for a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 is 7.  U.S.S.G. §§ 2B1.1(a)(1)(A)
and (B).  Because the loss amount exceeds $4 million but does not reach $7 million, 18 levels are
added, resulting in offense level 25.  Two additional levels are added under §3B1.3 for abuse of a
position of trust.  For the reasons set forth in this memorandum, an additional two levels should be
imposed under § 3C1.1 for obstruction of justice.  Janous should not be entitled to a two level
reduction for acceptance of responsibility under U.S.S.G. §§ 3E1.1(a), and the United States does
not intend to request an additional level reduction under U.S.S.G. §§ 3E1.1(b).  Hence, the total
offense level should be 29, which results in a Guideline range of 108 to 135 months, since Janous
has a criminal history level of III.
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Title 18, United States Code, § 3553 sets forth the factors that the Court should

consider in determining an appropriate sentence.  For the reasons set forth herein, the

United States recommends the imposition of a sentencing enhancement for obstruction of

justice and the denial of any sentencing reduction for acceptance of responsibility.  In

addition, the Court should consider imposing a sentence above the Guideline range, since

additional aggravating factors are present and a sentence within the Guideline range is

inadequate to meet the factors set forth in section 3553.

2. Facts

a. Criminal history

Prior to committing the offenses at issue in the above-captioned proceedings, Janous

was employed as a bookkeeper for Elite Landscape Management.  In June 2002, Janous was

fired from her position with Elite for embezzling $38,800 in funds.  See Shell v. King, No.

E2003-02124-COA-R3-CV (Tenn. Ct. App., Aug. 5, 2004) (Exhibit A).  On May 28, 2003,

Janous was indicted in the Sevier County General Sessions Court for the charge of Theft

Over $10,000.  On June 10, 2004, judgement was entered against Janous by the Circuit

Court.  Janous was sentenced to a term of imprisonment of six years, which was reduced to

six years’ probation, and she was ordered to pay restitution to her former employer.

b. The crime

Shortly after being fired by Elite, Janous went to work as a bookkeeper for

Scancarbon.  In that capacity, she had access to Scancarbon’s financial accounts.  Not long

after she began this new position, Janous began stealing from Scancarbon.  Between 2005
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and 2010, Janous embezzled more than $6.6 million from Scancarbon.2

The complete extent of Janous’ theft from Scancarbon may never be truly

understood.  Federal investigators, however, working closely with Scancarbon and its internal

auditors, have determined that Janous embezzled funds through fraudulent wire transfers,

unauthorized checks, and improper credit card charges.

(1) Unauthorized wire transfers

The primary means of embezzlement employed by Janous involved unauthorized

wire transfers.  Janous used such wire transfer to move funds from Scancarbon’s Regions

Bank account into a Regions Bank account that had been established in the name of Lesleigh

Enterprises.3  Janous would then transfer the funds to one or more other accounts that she

held jointly with her domestic partner, Leigh Janous.

Much of Scancarbon’s business involved the purchasing and selling of specialty

carbon products.  In addition, Scancarbon was an affiliate of Carbon Partners, a Norwegian

concern.  For this reason, Scancarbon frequently engaged in wire transfers of substantial

amounts of money, both to pay for acquisition of materials to be resold elsewhere and to

cover invoices received from its Norwegian counterpart.  Little more was required for such

transfers than for an authorized person at Scancarbon to call the wire transfer department at

2For the purpose of reaching a plea agreement, the parties simply agreed that Janous stole in
excess of $4 million.  After the agreement was put in place, however, the United States continued to
investigate the scope of Janous’ crimes and investigators were able to confirm that she had stolen
more than $6.6 million.  

3The name “Lesleigh” is an amalgam of the first name of Leslie Janous and her domestic
partner, Leigh Janous.
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Region’s Bank, supply a personal identification number, then provide the bank with the wire

transfer instructions.

In the course of its investigation, the United States identified the following 32

fraudulent wire transfers from Scancarbon’s bank account to the account in the name of

Lesleigh:

Date Amount
10/31/2005 $37,941.00
5/3/2006 $62,320.61
6/22/2006 $61,318.70
6/28/2006 $62,561.96
9/15/2006 $25,500.00
2/6/2007 $127,840.99
2/23/2007 $57,819.60
5/11/2007 $126,332.47
8/9/2007 $47,087.16
11/14/2007 $50,000.00
3/25/2008 $108,381.27
4/9/2008 $219,865.40
5/8/2008 $126,615.87
9/15/2008 $197,867.89
10/2/2008 $162,489.68
11/10/2008 $197,641.49
3/17/2009 $59,651.89
4/21/2009 $197,875.31
6/16/2009 $226,981.62
2/12/2010 $151,345.95
2/19/2010 $153,890.71
2/22/2010 $39,400.00
3/25/2010 $224,961.87
2/26/2010 $187,946.62
3/29/2010 $184,842.27
3/31/2010 $215,986.42
4/1/2010 $458,886.61
4/6/2010 $189,667.96
4/23/2010 $221,965.62
5/18/2010 $43,546.87
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6/2/2010 $198,896.64
8/3/2010 $93,861.17

TOTAL $4,521,291.62

A review of her wire transfers on a year-by-year basis suggests that Janous became

increasingly bold over the course of time.  In 2005, she stole a mere $37,941 through

fraudulent wire transfers.  She used the same method to steal $211,701.27 in 2006,

$409,080.22 in 2007, and $1,012,861.60 in 2008.  She exercised more restraint in 2009, when

she stole only $484,508.82.  In only the first eight months of 2010, i.e., before her fraud was

discovered, she managed to steal $2,365,198.71 through fraudulent transfers.

After making the unauthorized wire transfers, Janous went to elaborate lengths to

prevent her embezzlement from being detected.  She created false bank statements to hide

the transfers.  She stopped the delivery of authentic bank statements during periods of time

during when she knew she would be away from the office.  She misled her employers

regarding the particular transfers, attributing such transfers to payments made for legitimate

company expenses.  On several occasions, she complained of “computer crashes” and

convinced her office of the need to install a different computerized accounting system.  In

doing so, she was able to delay significantly the discovery of her crimes.

(2) Fraudulent checks

Janous was never given the authority to write checks on behalf of Scancarbon.  After

earning her employers’ trust, however, she was provided with blank checks that had been

signed in advance by William Novak and Sandra Todd.  These checks were provided so that

she could take care of expenses when business trips required the partners to be away from
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the office.  Janous used such checks, and eventually checks upon which she had forged

Novak or Todd’s signature, to steal money from Scancarbon.  On one occasion, she used a

forged company check to pay the balance of the restitution that she owed to her former

Sevier County employer in conjunction with her earlier conviction for embezzlement.

Investigators with the Federal Bureau of Investigation, working in conjunction with

Scancarbon, have identified 117 instances in which Janous used forged checks to steal money

from Scancarbon.  The amount that Janous stole in this manner totals $1,621,535.39.

In reviewing Scancarbon bank statements, investigators determined that Janous began

stealing from her employer through the use of fraudulent checks – using essentially the same

modus operandi through which she had defrauded Elite Landscaping.  In her interview with

federal investigators, she admitted that her primary means of stealing from Scancarbon

subsequently became unauthorized wire transfers, since this was easier than using forged

checks.  She continued, however, to use fraudulent checks throughout her tenure at

Scancarbon.  For instance, on 18 occasions, from October 5, 2005 through October 31, 2008

(the same year in which she had stolen more than $1 million through unauthorized wire

transfers), she wrote herself duplicate paychecks, essentially paying herself twice.

(3) Unauthorized credit card charges

Scancarbon employees were provided company credit cards that they were permitted

to use for business purposes.  Personal use of the cards was also permitted, although

employees were required to reimburse the company for such charges.  Janous made liberal

use of Scancarbon’s credit card and intentionally failed to repay the charges.
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In reviewing statements for credit cards issued to Scancarbon by First Tennessee and

Capital One, Scancarbon has identified $509,002.06 in unauthorized charges that were made

by Janous.  The United States will be prepared to provide testimony of a Scancarbon official

regarding these charges at the sentencing hearing.

(4) Money laundering

After fraudulently wiring funds from Scancarbon’s account to the Lesleigh account,

Janous transferred the funds to one or more other accounts.  Using funds that she knew to

be criminally derived (i.e., the proceeds of wire fraud), Janous engaged in numerous financial

transactions in excess of $10,000.  In doing so, she repeatedly violated 18 U.S.C. § 1957.

The most glaring example of money laundering committed by Janous was her

purchase of the residence at 1308 Selby Lane in Knoxville.  On April 1, 2010, Janous

transferred $458,886.61 from Scancarbon’s account at Regions Bank to her own account in

the name of Lesleigh.  Five days later, on April 6, 2010, she transferred an additional

$189,667.96 from Scancarbon’s account to the Lesleigh account.  The following day, on

April 7, 2010, Janous wired the sum of $647,698.64 from the Lesleigh account to an account

held by Title Associates of Knoxville at Pinnacle National Bank.  On April 10, 2010, she

used the funds transferred to Title Associates as partial payment for her purchase of a

residence worth approximately $1.5 million at 1308 Selby Lane, Knoxville, Tennessee.4  The

purchase of 1308 Selby Lane is only one of several real estate purchases that Janous

4For purposes of money laundering offenses in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1957, “persons
involved in real estate closings and settlements” are defined as “financial institutions” pursuant to 31
U.S.C. § 5312(a)(2)(U).
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conducted with money stolen from Scancarbon.

While Janous’ deliberate theft and transfer of her employer’s funds to buy 1308 Selby

Lane is probably her most noteworthy money laundering offense, others are just as deserving

of attention.  For instance, the United States has determined that funds fraudulently obtained

from Scancarbon were used, directly or indirectly, for the purchase of nine luxury vehicles,

including the following:

• 2008 BMW X5 (black in color), purchased on March 26, 2008

• 2008 BMW X5 (titanium in color), purchased on October 4, 2008

• 2009 BMW 7501 (black in color), purchased on May 5, 2009

• 2010 Audi A4 (blue in color), purchased on February 16, 2010

• 2006 Aston Martin Vantage Coupe (black in color), purchased on February 23,
2010

• 2008 Maserati Quattroporte (black in color), purchased on March 1, 2010

• 2007 Aston Martin DB9 Convertible (green in color), purchased on March 24,
2010

• 2008 Mercedes S550 (black in color), purchased on April 13, 2010

• 2008 Mercedes SL550, purchased on May 20, 20105

On Friday, September 17, 2010, knowing that discovery of her crimes was imminent,

Janous sold the 2007 Aston Martin, the 2008 BMW X5 (black in color), and the 2008

Mercedes SL550 to U.S.I. Motors in Knoxville for the total sum of $160,000.  Leigh and

5In support of the seizure of assets, federal investigators provided the Court with an
affidavit, which traces in detail how fraudulent wire transfers were linked to the purchase of vehicles
by Janous.  See Exhibit B.  Of particular note is the manner in which some of the vehicles were
purchased, then resold (often at a significant losses), within short periods of time.  
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Brandon Janous assisted Leslie Janous in transporting the vehicles to U.S.I. Motors.  U.S.I.

remitted $59,421.61 of the sale amount to ORNL Federal Credit Union to pay off a loan on

the 2008 Mercedes SL550.  The remaining $100,578.39 was tendered to Janous in the form

of a check, which was deposited the following Monday into two bank accounts, which Leigh

and Brittany Janous had jointly opened at Bank of America.

c. Discovery of crimes

In fall of 2010, Scancarbon became suspicious.  In particular, they found that various

invoices between Scancarbon and its Norwegian affiliate had not been paid.  Auditors from

Norway were called in to examine the financial records. An examination of the actual bank

records – rather than the phony ones created by Janous – ensued.  Janous avoided turning

over records requested by the auditors, blaming computer problems for her inability to

provide what she knew to be damning information.  In a later interview, Janous told federal

investigators that she had hidden her embezzlement through floating journal entries, but that

she had no invoices for one vendor.  With reference to her fraudulent conduct, she told

investigators that “I knew that as soon as the auditors came they would find it.”

A meeting was scheduled for Thursday, September 16, 2010, at 1:00 p.m., at the

office of Robert Brown, CPA.  According to Janous, she knew that her scheme had been

discovered when she saw Bill Novak pull up bank statements that she had not given him. 

She left to go to lunch and never returned to Scancarbon.  Instead, she called Leigh and went

home to plan what to do next.

On the evening of September 16, a “family meeting” took place at the Janous
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household.  Leigh’s brother Don, her nephew Brandon, and their wives, Rachel and Karen,

went over to 1308 Selby Lane.  Upon arrival, they found Leslie on the computer researching

destinations that did not have extradition treaties with the United States, particularly Belize. 

Leslie recounted to all present, including Leigh, a story of how she had participated in a

scheme through which Scancarbon had made illegal payments to a Saudi Arabian

businessman.  Various options were discussed, including the possibility of Leslie hiding out

in Atlanta or Houston.  Finally, Leigh’s relatives convinced Leslie not to run and to hire a

criminal attorney instead.

The following morning, Leslie, Leigh and Brandon went to U.S.I. Motors to sell off

cars (as discussed in the previous section of this memorandum).  Afterward, they purchased

a Toyota Sienna minivan.  The decision was then reached to hole up in the Hampton Inn in

Alcoa, Tennessee for the weekend.  The room was reserved in Leigh’s name.  Janous later

told investigators that she was not attempting to avoid law enforcement, but merely needed

to determine what to do next.  Yet, Brittany Janous visited the hotel during that weekend,

and later told investigators that Leslie was researching countries from which she could not be

extradited.

On Monday, September 20, Leslie and Leigh Janous checked out of the hotel.  Leigh

and Brittany went to open bank accounts in their own names at Bank of America (as

discussed above).  And Leigh went to file quitclaim deeds, which she had prepared herself, in

order to transfer ownership of the Janous’ real estate into her name only.

Janous remained in Maryville, staying Monday night at the Jameson Inn.  On Tuesday,
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she fled, heading north in the minivan (which she admitted to investigators that she had

purchased with the specific intention of fleeing).  According to Janous, she was headed to

New York.  Not long after she left, however, investigators with the Internal Revenue Service,

the U.S. Postal Inspection Service, and the Knox County Sheriff’s Office paid a visit to Leigh

Janous at 1308 Selby Lane.  They informed her that an arrest warrant had been issued by

Knox County for Leslie Janous’ arrest and that she should turn herself in.  Afterward, Leigh

spoke with Leslie via cellular phone and convinced her to return home.  Leigh, Karen, and

Brandon met up with Leslie in Bristol, Tennessee, and they returned to Knoxville.  A federal

criminal complaint and warrant for Janous’ arrest were issued on Friday, September 24, 2010.

d. Guilty plea and debriefing

On February 24, 2011, Janous entered a guilty plea to one charge of wire fraud and

one charge of money laundering.  In accordance with her guilty plea, she agreed to cooperate

“fully, completely, and truthfully” with law enforcement agents and personnel of the U.S.

Attorney’s Office.  The cooperation was to include participation in interviews regarding her

offenses.  Janous was permitted to remain free pending sentencing, in accordance with the

same conditions that had applied to her pre-trial release.  Among other things, Janous agreed

not to commit any other crimes, to surrender for sentencing and for any sentence imposed,

and not to obtain a passport and to turn in any passport in her possession.

Janous met with federal authorities at the U.S. Attorney’s Office on two occasions

(March 23 and March 28, 2011).  At both meetings, however, she attempted to provide

inaccurate and misleading information to investigators.  In particular, she attempted to
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convince them that Scancarbon had engaged in the illegal bribery of a Saudi Arabian national

in conjunction with various transactions.

The terms of Janous’ plea agreement also provided for the forfeiture of all items that

constituted or were traceable to the proceeds of her offenses.  Appended to the plea

agreement was a lengthy, but non-exhaustive list of items that she agreed would be subject to

forfeiture.  At the second of the two debriefing sessions with the United States, Janous went

through the list to identify items and state where they could be found.  In the course of

doing so, Janous pointed out a number of “less expensive” jewelry items that she and Leigh

merely “took out to the curb” (i.e., for trash pickup) when they moved to their new home at

1308 Selby Lane.

On April 8, 2011, Janous went to FBI headquarters, accompanied by one of her

attorneys, on the pretext of voluntarily relinquishing all jewelry items in her possession, and

in the possession of Leigh and Brittany Janous, that were subject to forfeiture.  Although she

turned over a number of expensive jewelry items, she withheld certain items.  Among the

items she failed to relinquish were her wedding and anniversary rings (which she had

purchased for more than $70,000).  In withholding those items, she made the puzzling

remark that she would “have to check her financial statements” before turning over such

items.  Since those items had only been identified in the indictment as items that were subject

to forfeiture, the United States had no basis for seizing such items at that time.
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e. The flight

On August 18, 2011 – ten days after meeting with the FBI, Janous fled Knoxville with

the intention of evading sentencing.  She began planning her flight from justice long before

actually absconding.  On Tuesday, April 12, 2011, Janous went to the Fort Sill National Bank

branch located at the Wal-Mart in Clinton, Tennessee.  There, she attempted to make a cash

withdrawal of the funds that she had transferred from her retirement account.  The bank,

however, was unable to accommodate her request because it did not have $139,000 in

currency on hand.  The bank did, however, order the cash and Janous returned the following

Saturday morning, on April 16, to obtain it.  Federal investigators have learned that more

than an hour was needed for bank employees to count out the cash in the denominations

requested by Janous.  The branch manager recognized Janous, but did not find it necessary

to alert anyone that a convicted felon was withdrawing such a large quantity of currency. 

Instead, the bank arranged for two Wal-Mart employees to accompany Janous through the

store and out to a waiting minivan.

After procuring the cash, Janous purchased her getaway vehicle.  She gave two of her

associates more than $6,700 in cash and sent them off to respond to a Craiglist

advertisement for a minivan.  The seller of the van has informed federal investigators that he

sold the van to two women on April 16, 2011 (i.e., the same day as the cash withdrawal

discussed above).  The seller identified both of the purchasers, who are presently under

investigation.

A successful disappearance, however, required more than a car and cash.  Janous
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procured duffel bags that were needed to carry the massive collection of luxury items (see

discussion below) that she would take along.  She obtained aerosol cans with false bottoms in

which to hide the cash.  She needed expensive items that she could liquidate easily.  Leigh

Janous would later report to federal authorities that on the Saturday evening before Leslie’s

disappearance, Leigh had removed her wedding and engagement rings and left them by the

sink so that she could wash dishes.  After Leslie went missing on Monday, Leigh “noticed”

that her rings were gone too.

By Monday morning, the plans were in place for Janous’ departure.  She had

requested permission from Trine Robinette, her probation officer, to be away from her

home so that she could take pictures at a photo shoot.  In doing so, she knew that she would

have a substantial head start on any pursuers.  At 12:35 a.m., Janous received a text message

stating “Took money from le [sic] envelope to fill van up with gas.”  She received another

text message sixteen minutes later, stating “Tank full all packed and ready.”

On the morning of Monday, April 18, 2011, Janous stole away from Knoxville in a

gold Toyota Sienna minivan.  From information on a Garmin navigational device recovered

from the vehicle, investigators know that she passed by Cedar Bluff Elementary School at

8:27 a.m., on her way to Interstate 40.  Likewise, authorities have determined that Janous

continued across the United States, passing through Tennessee, Arkansas, Oklahoma, Texas,

and New Mexico, until she finally reached Arizona.

Upon reaching Apache Junction, Arizona, Janous booked lodging at the Susa’s

Serendipity Ranch.  She informed the owner that she was attempting to escape an abusive
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domestic situation at home.  The innkeeper told authorities that Janous claimed to have

recently left a bad relationship involving a female police officer and that she feared being

tracked down by authorities.  The ranch owner offered to allow Janous to extend her stay by

paying a portion of her lodging fee through work at the ranch, an offer that Janous declined.

f. Apprehension

On May 6, 2011, federal investigators uncovered information that suggested Janous

was at a location they determined to be Susa’s Serendipity Ranch.  A team of FBI fugitive

task force agents was promptly deployed to the ranch.  The owner told the agents that

Janous was not present and declined their request to search the ranch.  Shortly thereafter,

however, the owner contacted the lead agent and told him that Janous was, in fact, there. 

The team breached the entrance to Janous’ room.  Upon seeing the agents, Janous attempted

to slash her wrist with a sharp implement but was able to cause only a superficial injury.

Janous was placed under arrest and booked over the weekend at the Maricopa County

Jail.  Numerous items in Janous’ possession were seized, including among other things, a

2002 Toyota Sienna minivan, a Valentino bag, a large Burberry bag, a small Fendi purse,

twenty other purses6 and wallets,7 eighteen pairs of shoes,8 and a pair of Dior sunglasses. 

6Three Prada purses (one with a $1,320 price tag), four Louis Vuitton, one Gucci, four Dior,
and four Valentino (in addition to the larger Valentino bag mentioned above).

7Three Christian Dior, three Carla Mancini, one Louis Vuitton, one Prada, one Dior, and
one that was not labeled.

8Four pairs of Valentino (three pairs with price tags ranging from $495 to $855), five pairs of
Christian Louboutin (four pairs with price tags ranging from $635 to $835), two pairs of Rene
Caovilla (with price tags ranging from $1,165 to $1,400), one pair of Chanel (with a $650 price tag),
one pair of Christian Dior (with a $390 price tag), one pair of Dior, one pair of Manolo Blahnik
(with a $395 price tag), one pair of Gucci (with a $495 price tag), one pair of Chanel (with a $675
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The agents also recovered numerous jewelry items, including a Tiffany box containing a

diamond ring that the FBI estimated to be worth approximately $20,000 and what appears to

be a number of pieces that Janous had identified from photographs during the March 28,

2011 debriefing session (including Leslie and Leigh Janous’ engagement and wedding rings)

that Janous had refused to turn over on April 8, 2011.  Also in her possession was an

extensive collection of photography equipment, with assorted Nikon cameras, lenses, and

related hardware.  Authorities also recovered more than $110,000 in cash, in various

denominations, much of which had been secreted in Aquanet hairspray and Puncture Seal

cans that were equipped with false bottoms.

At the time of her arrest, the agents also seized an Apple laptop computer and several

storage devices, along with a CD that contained Peachtree 2010 accounting software (one of

the programs that Janous used in defrauding Scancarbon).  Also seized were two passports,

one expired and one current (which had been issued on September 22, 2010).9

3. United States’ sentencing position

a. Sentencing factors in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(2)

As the Court and the defendant are aware, the sentence to be imposed should be

“sufficient, but not greater than necessary” to meet the following needs as set forth in 18

price tag), and one pair of Jimmy Choo (with a $650 price tag).

9Janous’ initial appearance and arraignment on the criminal complaint in case number 3:10-
CR-124 took place on September 27, 2010, and she had been informed in the preceding week of
charges against her in Knox County based upon her embezzlement.  Accordingly, the Court can
reasonably infer that Janous had received the passport either shortly before or after her federal
pretrial release on the condition of surrendering her passport.
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U.S.C. § 3553(a)(2):

(A) to reflect the seriousness of the offense, to promote respect for the law, and to
provide just punishment for the offense;

(B) to afford adequate deterrence to criminal conduct;

(C) to protect the public from further crimes of the defendant; and 

(D) to provide the defendant with needed educational or vocational training, medical
care, or other correctional treatment in the most effective manner.

The United States respectfully maintains that an upward departure from the prescribed

Guideline range is needed to provide a sentence that is sufficient, but not greater than

necessary, to advance these goals.

(1) The sentence imposed should reflect the seriousness of the
defendant offense, promote respect for the law, and provide just
punishment.

A significant factor in determining an appropriate sentence is that it reflect the

seriousness of the offense, promote respect for the law, and provide just punishment.  In

order to accomplish these purposes, the Court should impose a sentence above the

Guideline range.

Over the course of six years, Leslie Janous embezzled more than $6.6 million from

her employer.  She was able to carry out her crimes by abusing the position of trust that she

had been given by Scancarbon.  Her employers entrusted her with their bank account

information and the PIN codes needed to make wire transfers. They gave her access to

company checks and credit cards.  Janous, in turn, abused this trust in order to steal her

employers’ money.
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Merely quantifying the monetary losses caused by her embezzlement can hardly do

justice to the true scope of Janous’ culpability.  In order to appreciate the magnitude of her

offenses, the Court should consider the planning and forethought that went into the illicit

wire transfers, the careful steps that Janous took to cover her trail, and her effort to shift her

culpability to others.  It is from this perspective that the seriousness of Janous’ offenses, and

the need for a sentence above the Guideline range, can be best understood.

A sentence above the Guideline range is also needed to promote respect for the law. 

Janous’ prior criminal history, along with her attempt to escape the consequences of her

crime, reveal a patently contumacious attitude toward the rule of law.  The Court should

impose a sentence that is sufficient to get her attention.

As noted earlier in this memorandum, Janous’ theft from Scancarbon was not her

first instance of defrauding an employer.  On October 11, 2000, Janous was arrested on a

state charge of theft of over $10,000.  This offense involved a theft from her employer. 

Janous was prosecuted in criminal court in Sevier County, and pled guilty to the charge.  On

June 8, 2004, she was sentenced to a prison term of six years.  The sentence, however, was

suspended to six years’ probation and she was ordered to pay $38,844.71 in restitution. With

respect to this earlier conviction, two observations are noteworthy.  First, Janous was still on

probation during the period of time in which she began defrauding Scancarbon.  Second,

Janous had the temerity to use funds stolen from Scancarbon to pay the remaining restitution

due from her earlier theft.

Embezzlers sometimes seek to rationalize their crimes, reasoning that they are merely
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affording themselves the compensation that they truly deserve.  Others salve their

consciences by using some portion of their ill-gotten gains to help less fortunate persons or

causes they consider worthy.  Janous, in contrast, chose to squander most of the proceeds of

her crimes on a flamboyant lifestyle of unmitigated excess.  A review of Janous’ financial

records bears testimony to the exorbitant sums that were spent on her daughter’s September

2006 “Super Sweet 15 Party.”  While that event was perhaps the most infamous example of

how Janous wasted away her employer’s money, others are equally egregious.  Janous’

American Express statements show that she blew a fortune purchasing first class airline

tickets to Hawaii, shopping junkets in Atlanta, Orlando, Beverly Hills, Seattle, Key West and

Las Vegas (sometimes inviting along friends and family), and purchases of designer shoes,

purses, clothing, jewelry, and artwork.

Janous used Scancarbon’s funds to purchase luxury cars, computers, home theater

equipment, and bought more than $100,000 worth of furniture for her house – which she

had likewise purchased with purloined loot –  in the space of three months.  She spared no

expense for her daughter, Brittany; she leased a BMW for her before she was old enough for

a driver’s license, bought her expensive jewelry, designer clothing, horses, jet skis, and made

certain that she had the opportunity to travel abroad.  Nor did she spare any expense for her

dogs – spending more than $10,000 for “Pish Pads” (so the dogs could relieve themselves

indoors) and their very own television set (which she installed at dog height and kept tuned

to Animal Planet).

For most individuals, it is a humbling experience to plead guilty to federal wire fraud
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and money laundering charges.  For Janous, however, that apparently was not the case. 

During debriefing interviews, she sought to deceive federal investigators.  She pretended to

turn over items that were subject to forfeiture, while actually retaining a substantial cache of

easily transportable wealth.  She lied to federal authorities, lied to her probation officer and

(presumably) lied to her own attorneys – all with the intention of throwing authorities off the

trail of her escape.  Accomplices were sent out to purchase disposable phones, duffel bags,

and a car.  It appears also that they were to alert her of when authorities were getting too

close (e.g., that her Facebook account might be under scrutiny, or when to get rid of the

getaway van and its license plate).

Several inferences relevant to sentencing can be drawn from Janous’ attempted

escape.  First, she fled without regard to the harm that she would cause others.  Although she

arranged for the payment of Leigh Janous’ attorneys, she left town owing substantial fees to

her own attorneys.  Second, she fled Knoxville without any intention of returning home to

face punishment.  Her possession of a large sum of cash and passports is strongly indicative

of an intent either to leave the United States or to disappear by some other means.  Finally,

her decision to take along her computer and Peachtree accounting software suggests an

interest in locating employment in the bookkeeping business – and perhaps finding a third

victim to defraud – in the foreseeable future.

Janous’ earlier offenses, the grand scope of the crimes that led to her conviction in

the present case, and her attempt to evade punishment paint a picture of an individual who

fails to appreciate the seriousness of her crimes and has no respect for the law.  There could
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be no clearer example of an individual for whom an upward departure from the Sentencing

Guidelines would be appropriate.

(2) The sentence imposed should provide adequate deterrence.

In determining the particular sentence to be imposed, the Court must consider the

need for the sentence imposed “to afford adequate deterrence to criminal conduct.”  18

U.S.C. § 3553 (a)(2)(B).  Fraudulent acts, such as those committed by Janous, are not easily

detected and can have significant consequences for their victims.  For this reason, deterrence

is of paramount concern in fashioning an appropriate sentence. 

Deterrence has two components.  The first component is specific deterrence, which is

aimed at preventing the defendant in question from committing similar crimes in the future. 

The second component is general deterrence, which seeks to discourage other individuals who

may contemplate committing similar crimes.  There is a need for both general and specific

deterrence in the case of Janous.

The need for general deterrence cannot be overemphasized.  Fraudulent conduct,

particularly when committed by a person in a position of trust, can represent a significant

threat to a business.  The United States intends to present the testimony regarding the harm,

both economic and intangible, that Janous’ crimes caused for Scancarbon.  The Court should

impose a sentence sufficiently severe that those who are entrusted with the financial affairs

and funds of a company will know of the significant penal consequence they will face if they

abuse that trust.

In the present case, however, the need for specific deterrence is even greater than that
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of general deterrence.  Janous faced a severe penalty – a potential prison sentence of six years

– when she was convicted of embezzlement in 2004.  She received probation, however, and

was undeterred from seeking a new victim.  Over the next six years, she managed to steal

more than $6.6 million from Scancarbon.  When she was apprehended in late 2010 and pled

guilty in 2011, Janous knew that she faced a significant sentence.  Even the conviction,

however, was not enough to deter Janous, who decided to run instead of bearing the

consequences.

In considering the issue of deterrence, one additional issue should not be overlooked. 

In attempting to escape, Janous breached the trust of the Court, which had permitted her to

remain on release pending sentencing.  The Court should impose a sentence sufficiently

harsh to inform others who may contemplate similar actions that doing so will result in a

severe sanction.

Permitting Janous to face anything less than a Guideline sentence would send a

negative message to those who might contemplate defrauding their employers  – that they

can do so without facing any significant penal sanction.  The interest in general deterrence

strongly favors the imposition of at least a Guideline sentence.  The need for specific

deterrence warrants imposing a sentence above the prescribed Guideline range.

(3) The sentence imposed should protect the public from future
crimes by the defendant.

Title 18, United States Code, Section 3553 (a)(2)(C) states that the Court should

consider the extent to which a sentence is needed to protect the public from future crimes by

a defendant.  This factor weighs heavily in determining an appropriate sentence in this case. 
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Simply put, Janous must not be given another opportunity to gain the confidence and trust

of someone that she can defraud.  She must not be permitted to add to the list of victims

who have already suffered from her crimes.

(4) The sentence imposed should afford Janous with necessary
medical care and other correctional treatment.

In determining the appropriate sentence, the Court is also directed by 18 U.S.C.

§ 3553(a)(2)(D) to consider the need of the sentence imposed to provide the defendant with

needed educational or vocational training, medical care, or other correctional treatment in the

most effective manner.  The extensive nature of Janous’ crimes, along with her manifest

unwillingness to accept responsibility for what she has done, suggests a need for

psychological evaluation and treatment.  The Bureau of Prisons has the appropriate facilities

for providing the necessary treatment to address Janous’ psychological conditions, and this

factor should be considered in determining the appropriate sentence.

b. Computation of the loss for sentencing

In conjunction with her plea agreement, Janous agreed that the loss associated with

her offenses for sentencing purposes was an amount greater than $400,000.  Since the entry

of Janous’ guilty plea, however, the United States has continued to investigate the scope of

the loss and has determined the following:

• The total loss associated with Janous’ unauthorized wire transfers is
$4,521,291.62

• The total loss associated with Janous’ fraudulent checks is $1,621,535.39

• The total loss associated with Janous’ unauthorized credit card use is
$509,002.06
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Accordingly, the monetary losses that can be attributed to Janous total $6,651,829.07. 

During the sentencing hearing, the United States will be prepared to offer testimony with

respect to that loss amount.

The amount of money stolen by Janous can be determined with mathematical

certainty.  The precise loss caused by her crimes, however, cannot be quantified.  For

example, it is impossible to place a definite monetary value upon the intangible harm that

Janous’ conduct has caused to Scancarbon, including the loss of sales and business

opportunities, and potential damage to business reputation.

c. Janous should not be permitted a decrease in Guideline level for
acceptance of responsibility.

Paragraph 11 of the Plea Agreement states that the United States would not oppose a

two-level reduction for acceptance of responsibility under the provisions of Section 3E1.1(a)

of the Sentencing Guidelines.  The same paragraph states that if the defendant’s offense level

is 16 or greater, and the defendant is awarded the two-level reduction pursuant to Section

3E1.1(a), the United States would move, at or before the time of sentencing, to decrease the

offense level by one additional level pursuant to Section 3E1.1(b).  The Plea Agreement,

however, goes on to state the following:

Should the defendant engage in any conduct or make any statements that are
inconsistent with accepting responsibility for the defendant’s offenses,
including violations of conditions of release or the commission of additional
offenses prior to sentencing, the United States will be free not to make such
motion . . . and will be free to recommend to the Court that the defendant not
receive any offense level reduction for acceptance of responsibility under
Section 3E1.1 of the Sentencing Guidelines.
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Plea Agreement at 10.

In fleeing from the Eastern District of Tennessee to escape sentencing, Janous

engaged in acts that were plainly inconsistent with acceptance of responsibility, clearly

violated the conditions of her release, and arguably constituted the commission of additional

offenses.  There could be no better example of someone failing to accept responsibility than

a defendant who, following the entry of a guilty plea, misleads the Government, her

probation officer and her own attorneys, then attempts to flee from justice in a vehicle

loaded with expensive items subject to forfeiture.  Moreover, the process of tracking down

and apprehending Janous, and transporting her back to the Eastern District of Tennessee, 

involved the commitment of significant Government resources.  Accordingly, the United

States will not move for the one-level decrease in conjunction with Section 3E1.1(b).  For the

same reason, the Government recommends that the Court deny a two-level decrease in

conjunction with Section 3E1.1(a).

As an independent basis for the denial of the two-level decrease under Section

3E1.1(b), the United States notes that Janous may be subject to an upward increase for

obstruction of justice in conjunction with Section 3C1.1.  Application Note 4 to Section

3E1.1 states that “[c]onduct resulting in an enhancement under § 3C1.1 (Obstructing or

Impeding the Administration of Justice) ordinarily indicates that the defendant has not

accepted responsibility for his criminal conduct.”  For the reasons set forth in the next

section of the memorandum, it is the United States’ position that an upward increase is

warranted under § 3C1.1 for Janous’ actions.  Regardless of whether an adjustment for
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obstruction is found applicable, however, the Government recommends that the two-level

decrease under § 3E1.1(a) be denied.

d. An upward departure for obstruction of justice should be applied.

Section 3C1.1 of the Sentencing Guidelines provides for an increase in the offense

level by two levels if:

(A) the defendant willfully obstructed or impeded, or attempted to obstruct or
impede, the administration of justice with respect to the investigation,
prosecution or sentencing of the instant offense of conviction, and (B) the
obstructive conduct related to (i) the defendant’s offense of conviction and
any relevant conduct; or (ii) a closely related offense.

Application Note 3 to § 3C1.1 states that “[o]bstructive conduct can vary widely in nature,

degree of planning, and seriousness.  Application Note 4 attempts to assist courts in

identifying the types of conduct that warrant an upward adjustment by providing a “non-

exhaustive list of examples of the types of conduct” to which the adjustment applies.  One of

the listed examples is “escaping or attempting to escape from custody before trial or

sentencing; or willfully failing to appear, as ordered, for a judicial proceeding.”  See § 3C1.1,

Application Note 4.E.

In its objection to the Presentence Report, the United States specifically referenced

Application Note 4.E. for the proposition that an upward adjustment under § 3C1.1 should

be applicable.  In response, counsel for the defendant noted that Janous could not have

escaped from custody, since she was not in custody at the time she fled.  The United States

respectfully disagrees with that distinction.  At the time she fled Knoxville, Janous was

subject to electronically monitoring by Pretrial Services.  She had to lie to her probation
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officer regarding her whereabouts in order to avoid having her escape foiled by her ankle

bracelet.  Moreover, the Government notes that the reference to “escaping or attempting to

escape from custody” in Note 4.E is merely an example, which is taken from a non-exhaustive

list of examples.  The fact that Janous was subject to pre-sentence release, rather than in

physical custody, does not diminish the extraordinary lengths to which she went to escape

punishment.  Moreover, Note 4.E goes on to include “willfully failing to appear, as ordered,

for a judicial proceeding.”  While Janous did not fail to appear for her sentencing, her

carefully planned disappearance from Knoxville on April 18, 2011 raises the clear inference

that she had no intention of being present for her July 18, 2011 sentencing.  See Docket

Entry 32 (scheduling sentencing date). Finally, there is clear Sixth Circuit authority that

evasion from court-ordered supervision is “the equivalent of ‘escape from custody’ before

sentencing, within the meaning of U.S.S.G. § 3C1.1, cmt. n. 4(e).”  United States v. Watson, 86

Fed. Appx. 934, 937 (6th Cir. 2004) (collecting cases).10 

Had Janous merely left Knoxville, with the plans never to return, it is likely that an

adjustment under § 3C1.1 would still have been appropriate.  In fact, however, Janous did

much more, including the following:

• She transferred and withdrew more than $130,000 in currency, which she used
for the purchase of a minivan and to fund her escape;

• She recruited accomplices, who purchased a minivan, obtained duffle bags,
communicated with Janous during her flight, and assisted her escape in various

10In anticipation of an argument that the defendant may raise, the Sixth Circuit has ruled that
it is not impermissible double counting to deny a sentencing reduction under U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1
while, at the same time, imposing a sentencing enhancement under U.S.S.G. § 3C1.1.  See United
States v. Robinson, 390 F.3d 853, 888 (6th Cir. 2005).
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other ways;

• She made misleading statements to federal authorities regarding her continued
possession of jewelry, shoes, handbags, and other items that she knew were
subject to forfeiture, and took those items with her when she fled;

• She made misleading statements to the U.S. Probation Office regarding her
whereabouts on April 18, 2011 (i.e., that she was going to a photo shoot), in
order to allow herself additional time to escape apprehension; and

• She failed to inform the U.S. Probation Office that she had obtained a new
passport.

Accordingly, it is the Government’s position that Janous’ acts to evade sentencing should

subject her to an additional two-level increase for obstruction pursuant to § 3C1.1.

5. Conclusion

Based upon the foregoing analysis, the Court should impose a sentence above the

Guideline range of 108 to 135 months.  Janous should be ordered to pay restitution to

Scancarbon in the amount of $6,651,829.07.  In addition, all property, real and personal,

which constitutes or is traceable to the proceeds of Janous’ offenses, wherever such property

is found, should be subject to forfeiture to the United States.

Respectfully submitted,

WILLIAM C. KILLIAN
United States Attorney

By: s/Frank M. Dale, Jr.                     
FRANK M. DALE, JR.
Assistant United States Attorney
800 Market Street, Suite 211
Knoxville, Tennessee  37902
Telephone:  (865) 545-4167
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on September 23, 2011, a copy of the within and foregoing United
States’ Sentencing Memorandum and Motion for Upward Departure was filed
electronically.  Notice of this filing will be sent by operation of the Court’s electronic filing
system to all parties indicated on the electronic filing receipt, who access this filing through the
Court’s electronic filing system.  In addition, a copy of the foregoing will be provided to Joe
Thomas, United States Probation Officer.

s/Frank M. Dale, Jr.                     
FRANK M. DALE, JR.
Assistant United States Attorney
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